Association of long working hours and depression among healthcare workers in Armenia during COVID-19 pandemic

Master of Public Health Integrating Experience Project

Professional Publication Framework

by Mariam Kotsinyan, BSc, MPH (c)

Advising team:

Arin Balalian, MD, MPH, DrPH

Vahe Khachadourian, MD, MPH, PhD

Anna Isahakyan, MD, MPH, PhD(c)

Gerald and Patricia Turpanjian College of Health Sciences American University of Armenia Yerevan, Armenia 2023

Table of Contents

List of abbreviations	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Abstract	V
Insufficient sleep	2
Increased workload	3
Long working hours	3
War	4
Sociodemographic characteristics	4
Methods	6
Study design	6
Sampling and data collection	6
Measurements and variables	7
Outcome variable	7
Exposure variable	7
Covariates	7
Data analyses	9
Handling of variables	9
Outcome	9
Exposure	9
Covariates	9
Statistical analyses	10
Ethical considerations	10
Results	11
Characteristics of the study population	11
Primary analysis	11
Additional analysis	11
Discussion	12
Limitations and strengths	13
Conclusions	14
Appendix	22
Figure 1. Direct Acyclic Graph (DAG) for possible confounders	22
Figure 2. Data cleaning process	23
Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the study population (descriptive statistic)	24
Table 2. Crude and multivariable logistic regression of association between working hours and depression	26

Table 3. Logistic regression of association between working hours and depression, war and	
interaction term between war and working hours (additional analysis)	26
Table 4. OR and 95% CI for covariates included in the additional analysis of the association	
between working hours and depression	27

List of abbreviations

CCA	Complete Case Analysis
DAG	Direct Acyclic Graph
HEROS	COVID-19 Health Care Workers Study
GHQ-12	General Health Questionnaire-12
MCAR	Missing Completely at Random
NIH	National Institute of Health named After Academician S. Avdalbekyan
РАНО	Pan American Health Organization
PHQ-9	Patient Health Questionnaire-9
RA	Republic of Armenia
WHO	World Health Organization

Acknowledgments

I want to express my gratitude to my advisors Dr. Arin Balalian, Dr. Vahe Khachadourian, and Dr. Anna Isahakyan, for their enormous work and guidance throughout this time. This period was full of continuous learning and skill sharing. I can confidently state that I've improved my expertise in Public Health due to this work. Additionally, I would like to thank faculty members for their help and suggestions, which contributed to the quality of my work.

At last, but not least, thanks to my beloved family, friends, and colleagues for understanding and support. And many thanks to the American University of Armenia for the opportunity to find amazing friends like MPH 2023 cohort.

Abstract

Background. The beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic shook the global health system, which led to mental health problems among healthcare personnel possibly due in part to long working hours. Considering the importance of mental well-being, this study sought to explore the association between working hours and the odds of depression. Additionally, considering that data collection had coincided with the 44-day Artsakh war in 2020, I hypothesized that the possible association between working hours and depression could be modified by exposure to war.

Methods. To perform a secondary data analysis, I used the cross-sectional data collected within the scope of "The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of healthcare workers: COVID-19 Healthcare workers (HEROES)" prospective cohort study. Data were collected in 2020 and 2021 from healthcare facilities in Armenia. The 44-day war in Artsakh interrupted data collection for 5 months (October of 2020-March of 2021). PHQ-9 was used to assess depression among healthcare workers. Descriptive statistics were followed by multiple logistic regression analysis to find the association between working hours and depression. I used a Direct Acyclic Graph (DAG) to identify confounders.

Results. Of the 639 observations, after omitting observations with missing values, 355 were included in the final analysis. The mean working hours among participants was 9.84 (SD=5.65). Among 280 (78.9%) respondents PHQ-9 score was less than 10, and 75 (21.7%) reported a score of equal and more than 10. The regression model adjusted by confounders did not show a significant association between working hours and depression, for both the analyses performed. In an additional analysis, I found that the association between working hours and depression was significantly modified by being exposed to war (OR 0.14, 95% CI 0.02-0.75).

Conclusion. As a result of the study, no independent association was found between long working hours and depression among healthcare workers. Nonetheless, the association may be modified by being exposed to war. This finding indicates that the association is different during the before and after war periods. Further research is needed to explore how other natural or man-made disasters may affect the association between long working hours and mental health of healthcare personnel.

Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic is one of the most catastrophic events that the global population has faced in the 21st century.¹ It started in December 2019 with the outbreak of coronavirus in China (Wuhan and Hubei cities), and rapidly spread globally. As of May 9th, 2023, over 687 million reported cases and more than 6.8 million deaths had been documented globally.² Moreover, the COVID-19 pandemic not only impacted the global population but also took a toll on healthcare workers. According to the World Health Organization (WHO) estimates, in 2020 alone, approximately 23,000 healthcare workers were infected.³

Healthcare providers play an important role in saving human lives and supporting the delivery of medical services during times of the pandemic. Healthcare workers are at a higher risk of contracting COVID-19.⁴ Direct exposure to confirmed cases or with none confirmed asymptomatic cases makes healthcare providers particularly vulnerable to infection. Supporting staff (administrative and logistics personnel) of hospitals are also likely to be infected.⁵

Due to the nature and complexity of their profession, healthcare workers may respond differently to stressful events compared to others.⁶ Given the significance of the burden of stressful events on mental health, it is essential to prepare and control the mental well-being of healthcare providers to ensure the professionalism, quality, and efficiency of the services they provide.⁷

The prevalence of mental health problems during the pandemic were assessed across different locations. According to a survey conducted by the National Institution of Healthcare Management in the USA, 69.0% of physicians reported having colloquial depression (feeling down and sad), 20.0% reported the presence of clinical depression (severe depression not due to normal grief), and 11.0% reported other mental health problems.⁸ A meta-analysis of 65 studies by Li (2021), found that the pooled prevalence of depression across 21 countries among healthcare workers was 21.7%, from which countries from Middle-East had the highest proportions (34.6%).⁹

Unfortunately, less is known about the prevalence of depression among healthcare workers in Armenia.

Amidst the global pandemic, Armenia also faced a myriad of challenges, as outlined in the study by Ghazaryan (2021).¹⁰ One of the significant obstacles encountered was the healthcare staff having to work long hours, adding to their existing burdens and responsibility for human lives.¹⁰ Moreover, the healthcare system in Armenia has experienced a more complicated situation as COVID-19 also coincided with the 44-days long war in Artsakh in September-November 2020 with all long-lasting consequences.^{11,12} However, amidst these formidable challenges, the concerns related to the mental health of healthcare providers in Armenia have not received adequate investigation. Thus, this study sought to fill this important research gap by exploring the effect of the pandemic on mental health by focusing on the association between long working hours and depression among healthcare workers and supporting staff in Armenia.

Recent studies found several factors associated with mental health problems among healthcare workers: the possibility of contracting the virus, fear of transmitting it to family members, insufficient sleep, frustration, increased workload, and long working hours.^{13–15}

The aforementioned factors also contribute to a stressful environment and increase the risk of healthcare workers and supporting staff getting mental well-being problems,^{16–18} where healthcare workers have a higher prevalence of anxiety symptoms compared to supporting staff.¹⁹

Some of the factors are discussed below.

Insufficient sleep

Disturbed sleep is associated with mental health problems including anxiety and depression.²⁰ A meta-analysis of several studies found a significant association between disturbed sleep and mental health among healthcare personnel.²¹ In a study conducted in Kuwait, 78.8% of healthcare workers reported (from 963 completed surveys) poor sleep quality.²² According to

Huang & Zhao, (2020) in China healthcare workers had a higher prevalence of poor sleep quality compared with other occupations (teachers, freelancers, social workers, etc.).²³

Increased workload

With the increasing number of infected patients, the workload was growing and healthcare workers had to address unusual number of patients and perform specific tasks.²⁴ During the beginning of the pandemic, a nationwide survey from South Korea demonstrated that healthcare providers had to assume new responsibilities.²⁵ As a result of the above-mentioned circumstances healthcare workers in many cases even resigned and left the hospitals unattended.²⁶ For example, from February 2020 and in November 2021 healthcare sector of the United States lost 460 000 employees of which 18.0% reported pandemic as a reason.²⁶ Similar situation was observed in Singapore where resignation rates among healthcare workers were high in 2021, and a reason was job related burnout.²⁶

Long working hours

Long working hours have been associated with developing physical and mental problems across different occupations, such as healthcare.^{27–30} International studies have demonstrated that long working hours can lead to insufficient rest, poor self-care, and in addition a high likelihood of developing unhealthy behaviors.³⁰ In healthcare, long working hours have been linked to decreased quality of life, leading to sleeping problems and changes in social roles.²⁷ Moreover, working hours are considered as one of the common job-related stressors that can adversely affect mental well-being and be a risk factor for depression.²⁷

Long working hours induced by the overloaded situation of healthcare systems resulted in obstacles to focus and concentrate on their duties, thus creating a more stressful environment.²⁴ A cross-sectional study (1288 participants) conducted in Tokyo demonstrated that during March and April 2020, when Japan had a higher number of cases (incidence rate was 28.23 per 100 000

population during mentioned two months), the long working hours had a significant association with high a prevalence of depressive symptoms (\geq 11 hours/day: prevalence ratio (PR)=1.45, 95% CI=1.06 to 1.99, compared with \leq 8 hours/day).³¹ A similar study conducted in China (including Wuhan, Chengdu, Shanghai, and Qingdao) assessed the association between long working hours and depressive symptoms among health professionals during COVID-19.³² This study revealed that around 51.0% of the 291 study participants experienced depressive symptoms related to long working hours (more than 5 hours a day).³² An association between long working hours and mental health problems was found in the study conducted in New York by researchers from Columbia University. In that study long working hours (more than 40 hours per week) during the pandemic were associated with developing depression among healthcare personnel (2.293 completed surveys) (at baseline aOR=1.26, 95% CI= 0.95, 1.68 and at follow-up aOR=1.16, 95% CI=0.91, 1.51).³³

War

With the start of the 44-day War, the healthcare systems in Armenia and Artsakh has been under extreme pressure.³⁴ Since the number of people requiring urgent medical care was increasing, many COVID-19 centers have been forced to shift and focus on wounded patients.³⁴ Due to the intersection of pandemic and war, possible synergistic effects on mental well-being can be observed.¹² Additionally, a study conducted after the war found high a prevalence of anxiety, depression and PTSD among the general population of Armenia, Artsakh, and diaspora Armenians.³⁵

Sociodemographic characteristics

Variances in association between long working hours and mental health can vary depending on sociodemographic characteristics such as gender, age, living situation, educational level, and occupation since those are factors which can alter the severity of mental problems.³⁶ Recent studies demonstrated that gender and age were important predictors of depression.^{27,32,37} A

study conducted in Turkey demonstrated that healthcare workers living with elderly people or those who are at higher risk of infection have a higher risk of developing anxiety.³⁸ Depending on the specialty of healthcare workers, the prevalence of mental problems among occupations can also be different.³⁹ A study conducted in Singapore indicated a significant association between occupation and mental issues attributed to long working hours.⁴⁰ Nurses were more likely to have stress, among healthcare workers anxiety was more prevalent, and managerial or supervisorial occupations were more prone to low stress compared to physicians.⁴⁰ A study in China supports the finding that among nurses' mental health problems are more prevalent considering that they have more interaction with infected patients.⁴¹ Another predictor for mental health problems including depression is education.⁴² An international study conducted in 2020 found that individuals with low educational attainment have a higher prevalence of depressive symptoms. These findings are consistent with research conducted in Iran.^{42,43} Moreover, higher level of education among healthcare workers can serve as a factor which protects against the development of depression. This is because personnel with extensive education experience increased confidence and professionalism in their field.⁴¹

Considering the aforementioned factors and the complex interplay of challenges faced by healthcare workers and supporting staff, there is a compelling rationale to investigate the association between long working hours and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic in Armenia. The aim of this thesis project is to understand the association between long working hours and depression during COVID-19 among healthcare workers and supporting staff in Armenia. We hypothesized that the long working hours were associated with higher odds of depression scores. We additionally explored if the association between long working hours and depression was modified by exposure to the Artsakh war in 2020.

Methods

Study design

This study used cross-sectional data collected within the scope of "The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of healthcare workers: COVID-19 Healthcare workers (HEROES)" prospective cohort study.¹⁵ HEROES study is an international, large-scale initiative led by a collaboration between the University of Chile and Columbia University, Mailman School of Public Health. Additionally, the study was supported by Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) and World Health Organization (WHO). The general aim of the HEROES is to assess the impact of COVID-19 on the mental health of healthcare workers across 26 locations.¹⁵

National Institute of Health (NIH) Named After Academician S. Avdalbekyan facilitated the data collection. Study participants provided written consent to be included in the study. Eligibility criteria included working in health care facilities, providing care to COVID-19 patients and being a resident of the RA.

Sampling and data collection

In Armenia, data was collected through convenience sampling from different health care facilities. The data collection activities started in July 2020 and continued until September 27th. The data collection was suspended temporarily in October 2020 due to Azerbaijan's attack on Artsakh and was resumed from the end of March 2021 till May 2021, a few months after the ceasefire agreement on November 9th, 2020. To begin recruitment, the co-investigator identified a contact person in the participating organization; afterward, details and the aim of the study were explained. After approval to help with data collection by the contact person, all possible participants were identified. An invitation to participate in a survey was sent via email or text message. Data were collected through self-administered online surveys on a secure server hosted by the University of Chile.

Measurements and variables

The data on depression among healthcare workers was collected with General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12) and the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) instruments. The PHQ-9item instrument was used to measure depression only and GHQ-12 was used to measure both anxiety and depression. According to meta-analyses of 14 studies, PHQ-9 has a higher sensitivity (81.0%) and specificity (92.0%) in assessing depressive syndromes.⁴⁴ Whereas GHQ-12 has a specificity of 79.0% and a sensitivity of 64.0%.⁴⁵ This study used the data collected with the PHQ-9 instrument only.

The PHQ-9 is a 9-item instrument designed to identify major depression and understand the severity of depression.⁴⁶ Even though, the questionnaire has been translated into many languages and tested for validity in different communities globally, it was only pre-tested on a limited number of participants in Armenia.

Outcome variable

This study has one outcome variable (binary – yes, no) which is depression among healthcare workers in Armenia.

Exposure variable

Exposure of interest is the working hours during COVID-19, which was measured by the question related to the working environment (average hours worked in the past week in days and hours).¹⁵ According to the labor code of the Republic of Armenia normal duration of working hours should not exceed 40 hours per week, additionally for "healthcare organizations working on uninterrupted shift bases" the duration of working hours must not exceed 48 hours per week.⁴⁷

Covariates

The survey included questions related to sociodemographic characteristics such as gender (categorical), age (categorical), and education (categorical). In addition, information on occupation (categorical) was collected to assess the working environment. I performed a literature review to

identify possible confounders of the study. Furthermore, to illustrate the hypothesized causal pathways, Direct Acyclic Graphs (DAGs) were created using an online tool.⁴⁸

Based on the literature review and DAG, I considered the following covariates as potential confounders: gender, age, occupation, and education (Figure 1).

Occupation: It has been demonstrated that with increased workload nurses and physicians were working for long hours to ensure uninterrupted services.^{49,50} Different levels and severity of depressive syndromes were observed among healthcare workers, nurses, and public health workers.⁴¹ Moreover, international studies found that nurses have reported higher severity of depression.⁷

Gender: Healthcare workers both males and females were exposed to long working hours.⁵¹ Various studies showed that female healthcare workers are more prone to develop depressive syndromes.^{32,37,39}

Age: Older staff have reported a high prevalence of stress due to long working hours in a study conducted in China.⁵² In another study, prevalence of the depressive syndromes among younger age healthcare workers was higher compared to older.⁵³

Living situation: Healthcare workers who had a child or lived with older family members reported to have high depression severity.^{38,39}

Data management

The data was imported to IBM SPSS 21 software. For data cleaning purposes, range and consistency checks were performed. Data was saved in an encrypted folder in a password-secured computer that only the student investigator had access to. Data was shared with the advising team for verification of findings.

Data analyses

Handling of variables

Outcome

The selection of cut-off points for PHQ-9 score varies across high-, low-, and middleincome countries.⁵³ Manea (2012) suggested that the optimal cut-off for PHQ-9 lies between 8 and 11, particularly in middle-income countries (including upper-middle category). ⁵⁴ On the other hand, according to the authors of the PHQ-9, the suggested cut-off score is 10, which demonstrates a sensitivity and specificity of 88.0% for major depression.⁴⁶ This cut-off score has been consistently utilized in studies conducted among middle-income countries. ⁵⁵ Therefore, in this study participants with a PHQ-9 score of 10 or higher were classified as positive for depression.

Exposure

Working hours were categorized based on full-time employment schedules in Armenia. The exposure variable had the following categories: from 0 through 8 hours of work and working more than 8 hours.

Covariates

The categories with less than 10 observations, were combined with other groups to minimize sparse data bias. The gender variable had two categories female and male. For education variable some of the categories were collapsed to \leq 12 years of education and 12 > years of education groups. I created four categories for age (18-34; 35-44; 45-59; more than 60). I collapsed categories of occupation variable to physicians (includes all specialties of medical doctors), nursing staff (nurse, nursing assistant, midwife) and administration (all non-medical staff).^{13,15,56}

Additionally, based on dates of survey completion I created binary war variable. The respondents that had participated in the study before September 27th 2020 were considered not exposed to war. The variable comprised survey results collected before and after war.

Statistical analyses

I implemented Little's Missing Completely at Random (MCAR) test to explore the type of missingness. Thus, I performed a complete case analysis (CCA) excluding the observations with missing values.⁵⁷

Since the PHQ-9 data was not normally distributed, I performed the Wilcoxon rank-sum test⁵⁸, to assess the difference in medians of PHQ-9 score among before and after war groups. Odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were reported for each category of exposure variable.

For both primary and additional analysis I conducted multiple logistic regression, at a 0.05 level of significance.⁵⁹ To obtain crude OR logistic regression was performed without confounders in primary analysis.

Ethical considerations

The survey protocol for the HEROS study has been approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee at the Institute of Molecular Biology of National Academy of Sciences of Armenia (Armenia), the Faculty of Medicine, the University of Chile (Chile), and Columbia University (USA). The study does not include primary data collection with a human subject. The dataset is partial according to the needs of the study and does not contain identifiable information and the identity of the study participants cannot be revealed from the dataset.

The study received an exempt status from the Institutional Review Board of AUA.

Results

Characteristics of the study population

The Little's MCAR test indicated that data is not missing at random. Thus, observations with missing values on covariates, exposure and outcome were removed, and overall, 355 participants were included in the final analysis (Figure 2). The descriptive characteristics of the study population is presented in Table 1. The mean working hours among participants was 9.84 per day (SD = 5.65). Among respondents, 78.9% were not depressed and 21.1% were depressed. Among the participants, 66.8% reported working at least 8 hours per day, and the remaining 33.2% worked for more than 8 hours per day (Table 1).

About 1 in 10 of the responses (n=32, 9.0%) were collected after the 44-day war in Artsakh, and 90.9% (n=323) were collected before the war. The median PHQ score was significantly higher among the participants who participated after the war (p<0.05).

Primary analysis

Before adjusting for confounders, the odds of depression among those who work for more than 8 hours was 56.0% higher compared to those who worked at least 8 hours a day (OR 1.56, 95% CI 0.92,2.64). Nonetheless, the 95% CI was wide including the null value (Table 2).

After adjusting for confounders (age, gender, education, occupation), the odds ratio was attenuated from 1.56 to 1.35, indicating that the odds of depression among personnel who worked for more than 8 hours per day is 1.35 times the odds of depression among those who worked at least 8 hours a day (OR 1.35, 95% CI 0.77,2.38) (Table 2). Nonetheless, the width of 95% CI increased including the null value of 1.

Additional analysis

I also explored if the effect of working hours on depression could have been different before and after the war. I found that the association between working hours and depression was modified by exposure to war (after war) (OR 0.14, 95% CI 0.02,0.76). This finding indicates that the odds of depression among workers who work for more than 8 hours after war is 75.0% lower than those who worked at least 8 hours per day while adjusting for other confounders (Table 3). The same association for the before the war period was 1.76 (95% CI 0.97,3.20) indicating that the odds of depression among workers who work for more than 8 hours before the war is 76.0% higher than those who worked at least 8 hours per day.

The OR and 95% CI of the confounders included in the model for additional analysis are provided in Table 4. Confounders in the model are fit to reduce the bias in the association between working hours and depression and they do not directly answer the research question of this study (Table 4).

Discussion

This study did not identify an independent association between long working hours and depression, which overall contradicts findings from other settings.^{19,32,61} Explanations for the findings can be different. The sample size was small increasing the possibility of Type II error. The inclusion of categorical variables and interaction terms reduced the power and precision to detect associations. Additionally, considering the fact of fatigue and exhaustion, the healthcare personnel would not be so motivated to participate in the survey or provide accurate answers. Another possible explanation of the no independent association between long working hours and depression could be the monetary incentives and bonuses which healthcare workers were paid during pandemic. The incentives can encourage the healthcare workers to be more motivated and provide high-quality services, thus somehow improving quality of life.^{62,63}

Interestingly, working hours and war interacted in a way that the development of depression was less likely among those who worked more than 8 hours per day and after the war period. Unfortunately, the studies focusing on mental health problems related to a combination of war and pandemic are limited.¹² Nonetheless, a study among civilians in Balkan countries (e.g. Bosnia-Herzegovina, Croatia, Kosovo, Republic of Macedonia, and Serbia), found a high

probability of developing mental health problems due to war after a certain period.⁶⁴ In Armenia, during the war period (September-November 2020) the healthcare personnel primarily focused on providing medical services to injured soldiers, and COVID-19 was less prioritized. Moreover, healthcare personnel would not participate in the survey, because of new responsibilities assigned after the war period.

Limitations and strengths

As a convenient approach for dealing with missing values, I implemented complete case analysis (CCA), even though it has several drawbacks. The CCA reduces the sample size which reduces the statistical power. This method leads to decreased precision, therefore increasing the uncertainty of estimates. Additionally, since the data is not MCAR, it indicates that the complete observations are not a random sample of the total observations. Moreover, because of missingness and loss of information selection bias can be a limitation. Since only observations with complete answers were selected for analysis, the analytical sample is not representative of the intended sample.⁶⁵

Another source of selection bias could be due to the convenience sampling method. For example, permanent staff of the mental health clinics (such as psychosocial rehabilitation centers), participants who have experienced mental health problems in the past or due to the pandemic, or people who have worked prolonged hours during those times might have preferred to participate in the study. We found that 16.9% (60) of the analytic sample were staff members of mental health clinics. The overrepresentation of mental health clinics' staff in the sample may have limited the external validity of the findings. Because the sample is not selected randomly, the results obtained from the study sample may not be generalizable in other settings, thus also leading to limitations in external validity.⁶⁶ Additionally, due to the cross-sectional nature of the data collection, which excludes the temporal sequence between exposure and outcome, the causal relationship between working hours and depression could not be investigated.⁶⁷

Additionally, recall bias and reporting bias are limitations of this study. For example, healthcare workers who were depressed might remember the number of hours they worked during the week preceding the survey differently.

Finally, PHQ-9 instrument is mainly used for classifying the depression severity and identifying major depressive disorder, rather than detecting depression itself. Nonetheless, PHQ-9 is considered a convenient approach for mental health research, especially for the detection of major depressive disorder.

To my knowledge, this is the first study assessing the association of long working hours and depression during COVID-19, among healthcare workers in Armenia, which makes this study unique. Furthermore, the study investigated the impact of war to modify the association between working hours and depression, which adds a distinctive dimension to the research. Despite the small sample size, I was able to identify indications of interaction between long working hours and war. Thus, providing insights for future research focusing on healthcare workers' mental health. The questionnaire was pre-tested and translated with the involvement of clinical psychologist experts. Additionally, the survey was administered online which reduces the possibility of interviewer bias and confirmation bias.

Conclusions

Secondary data analysis of the data obtained from the multicenter "HEROS" study, demonstrated no independent association between long working hours and depression among healthcare workers and supporting staff in Armenia, during COVID-19. However, in the additional analysis, I found that the association between working hours and depression was modified by exposure to war. These findings provide information about the situation of mental health among healthcare personnel in Armenia. A future study should be conducted to assess if the associations revealed in the cross-sectional analysis would be corroborated by the follow-up surveys among the participants of HEROES cohort. Further studies should explore how certain natural and human-

caused disasters affect mental health or affect associations between long working hours and mental health conditions.

References

- 1. Kar SK, Arafat SMY, Kabir R, et al. Coping with Mental Health Challenges During COVID-19. Published online 2020:199-213. doi:10.1007/978-981-15-4814-7_16
- 2. COVID Coronavirus Statistics Worldometer. Accessed May 26, 2023. https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/
- 3. ICN calls for data on healthcare worker infection rates and deaths | ICN International Council of Nurses. Accessed May 26, 2023. https://www.icn.ch/news/icn-calls-data-healthcare-worker-infection-rates-and-deaths
- 4. Lange KW. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and global mental health. *Global Health Journal (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*. 2021;5(1):31. doi:10.1016/J.GLOHJ.2021.02.004
- Zhang R, Hou T, Kong X, et al. PTSD Among Healthcare Workers During the COVID-19 Outbreak: A Study Raises Concern for Non-medical Staff in Low-Risk Areas. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*. 2021;12:696200. doi:10.3389/FPSYT.2021.696200/FULL
- 6. Blasco-Belled A, Tejada-Gallardo C, Fatsini-Prats M, Alsinet C. Mental health among the general population and healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: A metaanalysis of well-being and psychological distress prevalence. *Current Psychology (New Brunswick, N.j).* 2022;1:1. doi:10.1007/S12144-022-02913-6
- 7. Søvold LE, Naslund JA, Kousoulis AA, et al. Prioritizing the Mental Health and Well-Being of Healthcare Workers: An Urgent Global Public Health Priority. *Frontiers in Public Health*. 2021;9:514. doi:10.3389/FPUBH.2021.679397/BIBTEX
- Physician Burnout & Moral Injury: The Hidden Health Care Crisis. Accessed May 26, 2023. https://nihcm.org/publications/physician-burnout-suicide-the-hidden-health-carecrisis
- Li Y, Scherer N, Felix L, Kuper H. Prevalence of depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder in health care workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLOS ONE*. 2021;16(3):e0246454. doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0246454
- 10. Ghazaryan G, Babayan L. COVID-19–በՎ < 추ՎԱՆԴՆԵՐԻՆ ՄԱՍՆԱԳԻՏԱԿԱՆ OԳՆՈԻԹՅՈԻՆ ՑՈԻՑԱԲԵՐԱԾ ԲՈԻԺԱՇԽԱՏՈՂՆԵՐԻ < ՈԳԵԿԱՆ ՎԻՃԱԿԸ <ԱՅԱՍՏԱՆՈԻՄ / MENTAL HEALTH OF MEDICAL WORKERS PROVIDING PROFESSIONAL CARE TO PATIENTS WITH COVID-19 IN THE REPUBLIC OF ARMENIA. ARMENIAN JOURNAL OF MENTAL HEALTH. Published online 2021:39-47. doi:10.55436/1829202x-12.2021.1-39
- Markosian C, Khachadourian V, Kennedy CA. Frozen conflict in the midst of a global pandemic: potential impact on mental health in Armenian border communities. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*. 2021;56(3):513-517. doi:10.1007/S00127-020-01996-5
- Markosian C, Layne CM, Petrosyan V, Shekherdimian S, Kennedy CA, Khachadourian V. War in the COVID-19 era: Mental health concerns in Armenia and Nagorno-Karabakh. *The International journal of social psychiatry*. 2022;68(3):481-483. doi:10.1177/00207640211003940

- Biber J, Ranes B, Lawrence S, et al. Mental health impact on healthcare workers due to the COVID-19 pandemic: a U.S. cross-sectional survey study. *Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes*. 2022;6(1):1-14. doi:10.1186/S41687-022-00467-6/TABLES/6
- 14. Lasalvia A, Bonetto C, Porru S, et al. Psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic on healthcare workers in a highly burdened area of north-east Italy. *Epidemiology and psychiatric sciences*. 2020;30. doi:10.1017/S2045796020001158
- Mascayano F, van der Ven E, Moro MF, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of healthcare workers: study protocol for the COVID-19 HEalth caRe wOrkErS (HEROES) study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 2022;57(3):633-645. doi:10.1007/S00127-021-02211-9/TABLES/2
- Chersich MF, Gray G, Fairlie L, et al. COVID-19 in Africa: care and protection for frontline healthcare workers. *Globalization and health*. 2020;16(1). doi:10.1186/S12992-020-00574-3
- 17. Nguyen LH, Drew DA, Graham MS, et al. Risk of COVID-19 among front-line healthcare workers and the general community: a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet Public Health*. 2020;5(9):e475-e483. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30164-X
- Stephen RI, Olumoh J, Tyndall J, Adegboye O. Risk Factors for COVID-19 Infection among Healthcare Workers in North-East Nigeria. *Healthcare (Basel, Switzerland)*. 2022;10(10). doi:10.3390/HEALTHCARE10101919
- Maciaszek J, Ciulkowicz M, Misiak B, et al. Mental Health of Medical and Non-Medical Professionals during the Peak of the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Cross-Sectional Nationwide Study. *Journal of Clinical Medicine 2020, Vol 9, Page 2527*. 2020;9(8):2527. doi:10.3390/JCM9082527
- 20. Sher L. COVID-19, anxiety, sleep disturbances and suicide. *Sleep Medicine*. 2020;70:124. doi:10.1016/J.SLEEP.2020.04.019
- Liu Y, Zhang Q, Jiang F, et al. Association between sleep disturbance and mental health of healthcare workers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*. 2022;13. doi:10.3389/FPSYT.2022.919176/FULL
- 22. Hossain MM, Tasnim S, Sultana A, et al. Epidemiology of mental health problems in COVID-19: a review. *F1000Research 2020 9:636*. 2020;9:636. doi:10.12688/f1000research.24457.1
- 23. Huang Y, Zhao N. Generalized anxiety disorder, depressive symptoms and sleep quality during COVID-19 outbreak in China: a web-based cross-sectional survey. *Psychiatry Research*. 2020;288:112954. doi:10.1016/J.PSYCHRES.2020.112954
- 24. Hassanie S, Olugbade OA, Karadas G, Altun Ö. The Impact of Workload on Workers' Traumatic Stress and Mental Health Mediated by Career Adaptability during COVID-19. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*. 2022;14(19):12010. doi:10.3390/SU141912010/S1
- 25. Cheong HS, Kwon KT, Hwang S, et al. Workload of Healthcare Workers During the COVID-19 Outbreak in Korea: A Nationwide Survey. *Journal of Korean Medical Science*. 2022;37(6). doi:10.3346/JKMS.2022.37.E49

- Poon YSR, Lin YP, Griffiths P, Yong KK, Seah B, Liaw SY. A global overview of healthcare workers' turnover intention amid COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review with future directions. *Hum Resour Health*. 2022;20(1):70-70. doi:10.1186/S12960-022-00764-7
- 27. Bondagji D, Fakeerh M, Alwafi H, Khan AA. The Effects of Long Working Hours on Mental Health Among Resident Physicians in Saudi Arabia. *Psychology Research and Behavior Management*. 2022;15:1545-1557. doi:10.2147/PRBM.S370642
- 28. Hong Y, Zhang Y, Xue P, et al. The Influence of Long Working Hours, Occupational Stress, and Well-Being on Depression Among Couriers in Zhejiang, China. *Frontiers in Psychology*. 2022;13:3645. doi:10.3389/FPSYG.2022.928928/BIBTEX
- 29. Ogawa R, Seo E, Maeno T, Ito M, Sanuki M, Maeno T. The relationship between long working hours and depression among first-year residents in Japan. *BMC Medical Education*. 2018;18(1):1-8. doi:10.1186/S12909-018-1171-9/TABLES/3
- Park S, Kook H, Seok H, et al. The negative impact of long working hours on mental health in young Korean workers. *PLoS ONE*. 2020;15(8). doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0236931
- Inoue Y, Yamamoto S, Fukunaga A, et al. Original research: Association between engagement in COVID-19-related work and depressive symptoms among hospital workers in a designated COVID-19 hospital in Japan: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*. 2021;11(4):49996. doi:10.1136/BMJOPEN-2021-049996
- Lang Q, Liu X, He Y, Lv Q, Xu S. Association between Working Hours and Anxiety/Depression of Medical Staff during Large-Scale Epidemic Outbreak of COVID-19: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Psychiatry Investigation*. 2020;17(12):1167. doi:10.30773/PI.2020.0229
- 33. Chen Y, Li G. New York City Epidemiology forum. In: Working Overtime and Mental Health Problems among New York Healthcare Workers. Accessed June 10, 2023. https://qrco.de/be1lVg..
- 34. Kazaryan AM, Edwin B, Darzi A, et al. War in the time of COVID-19: humanitarian catastrophe in Nagorno-Karabakh and Armenia. *The Lancet Global Health*. 2021;9(3):e243-e244. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30510-6
- 35. Movsisyan AS, Galoustian N, Aydinian T, Simoni A, Aintablian H. The immediate mental health effects of the 2020 Artsakh War on Armenians: a cross-sectional study. *International journal of psychiatry research*. 2022;5(1):e1123-e1123. doi:10.33425/2641-4317.1123
- 36. Kuo FL, Yang PH, Hsu HT, et al. Survey on perceived work stress and its influencing factors among hospital staff during the COVID-19 pandemic in Taiwan. *The Kaohsiung journal of medical sciences*. 2020;36(11):944-952. doi:10.1002/KJM2.12294
- Gupta B, Sharma V, Kumar N, Mahajan A. Anxiety and Sleep Disturbances Among Health Care Workers During the COVID-19 Pandemic in India: Cross-Sectional Online Survey. *JMIR public health and surveillance*. 2020;6(4). doi:10.2196/24206
- 38. Hacimusalar Y, Kahve AC, Yasar AB, Aydin MS. Anxiety and hopelessness levels in COVID-19 pandemic: A comparative study of healthcare professionals and other

community sample in Turkey. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*. 2020;129:181-188. doi:10.1016/J.JPSYCHIRES.2020.07.024

- 39. Ghaleb Y, Lami F, Al Nsour M, et al. Mental health impacts of COVID-19 on healthcare workers in the Eastern Mediterranean Region: a multi-country study. *Journal of Public Health (Oxford, England)*. 2021;43(Suppl 3):iii34. doi:10.1093/PUBMED/FDAB321
- 40. Teo I, Chay J, Cheung YB, et al. Healthcare worker stress, anxiety and burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic in Singapore: A 6-month multi-centre prospective study. *PLOS ONE*. 2021;16(10):e0258866. doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0258866
- Que J, Shi L, Deng J, et al. Psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on healthcare workers: a cross-sectional study in China. *General Psychiatry*. 2020;33(3):100259. doi:10.1136/GPSYCH-2020-100259
- 42. Nicolaou C, Menikou J, Lamnisos D, et al. Mental Health Status of Healthcare Workers During the COVID-19 Outbreak. *https://doi.org/101024/2673-8627/a000010*. 2021;80(1-2):62-76. doi:10.1024/2673-8627/A000010
- 43. Kheradmand A, Mahjani M, Pirsalehi A, et al. Mental Health Status among Healthcare Workers during COVID-19 Pandemic. *Iranian journal of psychiatry*. 2021;16(3):250-259. doi:10.18502/IJPS.V16I3.6250
- 44. Hahn D, Reuter K, Härter M. Screening for affective and anxiety disorders in medical patients comparison of HADS, GHQ-12 and Brief-PHQ. *GMS Psycho-Social Medicine*. 2006;3:Doc09. Accessed May 26, 2023. /pmc/articles/PMC2736509/
- 45. Zofia Makowska. The validity of general health questionnaires, GHQ-12 and GHQ-28, in mental health studies of working people PubMed. Published 2002. Accessed May 26, 2023. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12608623/
- 46. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of general internal medicine*. 2001;16(9):606-613. doi:10.1046/J.1525-1497.2001.016009606.X
- 47. EUROPEAN COMMISSION FOR DEMOCRACY THROUGH LAW (VENICE COMMISSION) ARMENIA LABOUR CODE AS OF 17 JUNE 2016 (*). Published online 2021. Accessed May 26, 2023. www.venice.coe.int
- 48. Textor J, van der Zander B, Gilthorpe MS, Liśkiewicz M, Ellison GT. Robust causal inference using directed acyclic graphs: the R package 'dagitty.' *International Journal of Epidemiology*. 2016;45(6):1887-1894. doi:10.1093/IJE/DYW341
- Hoedl M, Silvia Bauer ·, Doris Eglseer ·, Bauer S, Eglseer D. Influence of nursing staff working hours on stress levels during the COVID-19 pandemic. *HeilberufeScience 2021* 12:3. 2021;12(3):92-98. doi:10.1007/S16024-021-00354-Y
- 50. Alrawashdeh HM, Al-Tammemi AB, Alzawahreh MK, et al. Occupational burnout and job satisfaction among physicians in times of COVID-19 crisis: a convergent parallel mixed-method study. *BMC public health*. 2021;21(1):811. doi:10.1186/S12889-021-10897-4/TABLES/5
- 51. Female health-care workers and COVID-19 in Kazakhstan: study unveils long-standing need for gender-responsive policies. Accessed May 26, 2023.

https://www.who.int/europe/news/item/26-01-2023-female-health-care-workers-and-covid-19-in-kazakhstan--study-unveils-long-standing-need-for-gender-responsive-policies

- 52. Cai H, Tu B, Ma J, et al. Psychological Impact and Coping Strategies of Frontline Medical Staff in Hunan Between January and March 2020 During the Outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Hubei, China. *Medical Science Monitor*. 2020;26. doi:10.12659/MSM.924171
- 53. Spoorthy MS. Mental health problems faced by healthcare workers due to the COVID-19 pandemic–A review. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*. 2020;51:102119. doi:10.1016/J.AJP.2020.102119
- 54. Manea L, Gilbody S, McMillan D. Optimal cut-off score for diagnosing depression with the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9): A meta-analysis. *CMAJ Canadian Medical Association Journal*. 2012;184(3):E191. doi:10.1503/CMAJ.110829/-/DC1
- 55. Costantini L, Pasquarella C, Odone A, et al. Screening for depression in primary care with Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9): A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*. 2021;279:473-483. doi:10.1016/J.JAD.2020.09.131
- 56. Bryant-Genevier J, Rao CY, Lopes-Cardozo B, et al. Symptoms of Depression, Anxiety, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and Suicidal Ideation Among State, Tribal, Local, and Territorial Public Health Workers During the COVID-19 Pandemic — United States, March–April 2021. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2021;70(26):947-952. doi:10.15585/MMWR.MM7026E1
- 57. Li C. Little's Test of Missing Completely at Random. https://doi.org/101177/1536867X1301300407. 2013;13(4):795-809. doi:10.1177/1536867X1301300407
- Kim HY. Statistical notes for clinical researchers: Nonparametric statistical methods: 1. Nonparametric methods for comparing two groups. *Restorative Dentistry & Endodontics*. 2014;39(3):235. doi:10.5395/RDE.2014.39.3.235
- 59. Sperandei S. Understanding logistic regression analysis. *Biochemia Medica*. 2014;24(1):12-18. doi:10.11613/BM.2014.003/FULLARTICLE
- Markosian C, Layne CM, Petrosyan V, Shekherdimian S, Kennedy CA, Khachadourian V. War in the COVID-19 era: Mental health concerns in Armenia and Nagorno-Karabakh. *The International journal of social psychiatry*. Published online March 18, 2021:207640211003940. doi:10.1177/00207640211003940
- 61. Kabasakal E, Özpulat F, Akca A, Özcebe LH. Mental health status of health sector and community services employees during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*. 2021;94(6):1249. doi:10.1007/S00420-021-01678-Y
- 62. Ćulafić S, Janovac T, Jovanović SV, et al. State Incentives and Sustainable Motivation System in the Health Sector. *Sustainability 2021, Vol 13, Page 13592*. 2021;13(24):13592. doi:10.3390/SU132413592
- 63. Waitzberg R, Gerkens S, Dimova A, et al. Balancing financial incentives during COVID-19: A comparison of provider payment adjustments across 20 countries. *Health Policy*. 2022;126(5):398-407. doi:10.1016/J.HEALTHPOL.2021.09.015

- 64. Priebe S, Bogic M, Ajdukovic D, et al. Mental disorders following war in the Balkans: a study in 5 countries. *Archives of general psychiatry*. 2010;67(5):518-528. doi:10.1001/ARCHGENPSYCHIATRY.2010.37
- 65. Arteaga F, Ferrer-Riquelme AJ. 3.06 Missing Data.
- 66. Etikan I, Abubakar Musa S, Sunusi Alkassim R. Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling. *http://www.sciencepublishinggroup.com*. 2015;5(1):1. doi:10.11648/J.AJTAS.20160501.11
- 67. Setia MS. Methodology Series Module 3: Cross-sectional Studies. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*. 2016;61(3):261. doi:10.4103/0019-5154.182410

Appendix



Figure 1. Direct Acyclic Graph (DAG) for possible confounders

Green- long working hours (exposure variable), yellow- depression (outcome variable), pinkoccupation, gender, age, education (identified confounders), blue- living condition (excluded confounder).

Figure 2. Data cleaning process



n(%)		
96 (27.0)		
88 (24.8)		
139 (39.2)		
32 (9.0)		
297 (83.7)		
58 (16.3)		
151 (42.5)		
203 (57.2)		
240 (67.6)		
115 (32.4)		
108 (30.4)		
172 (48.5)		
75 (21.1)		
185 (52.1)		
106 (29.9)		

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the study population (descriptive statistic)

No (score <10)	280 (78.9)
Yes (score≥10)	75 (21.1)
Working hours	
≤ 8 hours per day	237 (66.8)
>8 hours per day	118 (33.2)

Table 2. Crude and multivariable logistic regression of association between working hours and depression

Variables	OR	95%	∕₀ CI	p-value	aOR ^a	95 9	% CI	p-value
		Lower	Upper			Lower	Upper	
Hours worked per								
day			-					
0-8 hours per day	1.00	R	eference		1.00	Refere	nce	
8+ hours per day	1.56	0.92	2.64	0.09	1.35	0.77	2.37	0.29

a) adjusted by age, gender, occupation, and education

Table 3. Logistic regression of association between working hours and depression, war and interaction term between war and working hours (additional analysis)

Variables	aOR ^a	95% CI		p-value
		Lower	Upper	
Hours worked per day				
0-8 hours per day	1.00	Reference		
8+ hours per day	1.76	0.96	3.20	0.06
War				
Before	1.00	Reference		
After	5.31	1.70	16.61	0.00
Interaction				
8+ hours and after war	0.14	0.02	0.75	0.02

a) adjusted by age, gender, occupation, and education

Variables	OR	95% CI		p-value
		Lower	Upper	-
Age				
18-34	1.00		Reference	
35-44	0.39	0.18	0.83	0.01
45-59	0.45	0.24	0.87	0.01
60+	0.31	0.10	0.94	0.03
Gender				
Female	1.00		Reference	
Male	0.58	0.27	1.26	0.17
Education				
≤ 12 years of education	1.00		Reference	
12 > years of education	1.66	0.747	3.68	0.21
Occupation				
Physician	1.00		Reference	
Nursing staff	0.92	0.36	2.30	0.86
Administrative staff	0.96	0.45	2.04	0.93

Table 4. OR and 95% CI for covariates included in the additional analysis of the association between working hours and depression